

# PHYSIOTHERAPY IN PRIMARY HEALTH CARE

October 2017

## **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

Although there is great demand for community based physiotherapy services in Ontario, there continues to be a lack of accessible and affordable physiotherapy care throughout communities.<sup>1</sup> In 2013, the Ontario government restructured publicly funded physiotherapy across multiple sectors within the system.<sup>2</sup> This change resulted in additional funding for 38.3 full time equivalent (FTE) physiotherapist positions in primary health care (PHC) teams (e.g. aboriginal health centers, community health centers, family health teams and nurse practitioner-led clinics).<sup>3</sup> This change also resulted in the removal of policy barriers allowing physiotherapists to become members of current and future PHC teams.<sup>2</sup> Integrating physiotherapists into PHC teams has been identified as a cost-effective way to improve individual outcomes and quality of care.<sup>4-8</sup>

Benefits of having physiotherapy services as part of PHC has been identified, however, physiotherapists have faced issues with integration into the interdisciplinary team.<sup>3</sup> The main barriers include:

- A lack of definition of the physiotherapist's role in PHC teams, and;
- Other health care professionals' lack of understanding of the physiotherapist's role.<sup>3,9</sup>

The integration process of physiotherapists into PHC teams could be facilitated by improving health care providers', physiotherapists' and health system planners' understanding of the role of physiotherapy in PHC.<sup>3</sup>

The purpose of this document is to describe the physiotherapist's role in PHC teams, the benefits of their services, and opportunities to facilitate and advocate for increased physiotherapy funding for PHC teams in Ontario. This document will be of interest to policy makers and system planners, physiotherapists and other health care professionals.



## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Key Definitions	3
Brief History of Physiotherapy in PHC	3
Toronto Central LHIN Evaluation of Physiotherapy in PHC	4
What is a Physiotherapist?	4
Physiotherapist Assistants	5
Benefits of Integrating Physiotherapy into PHC	5
Physiotherapists in PHC	6
Roles of Physiotherapists in PHC	7
Models of Care	7
Service Delivery	7
Client Populations	8
Examples of a Physiotherapist's Role in PHC	8
Chronic Pain	8
Acute/Subacute Musculoskeletal Conditions	8
Arthritis	9
Obesity	9
Diabetes	9
Falls	9
Chronic Obstructive Respiratory Disorder (COPD)	10
Asthma	10
Mental Health	10
Incontinence	10
Ontario Physiotherapy Association Support	10
References	11



## **KEY DEFINITIONS**

The following is a list of definitions for key terms used throughout the document.

#### PRIMARY CARE (PC)

Primary care is the first level of contact in the health care system where services are mobilized and coordinated to promote health, prevent illness and manage chronic disease.<sup>10</sup>

#### **PRIMARY HEALTH CARE (PHC)**

Primary Health Care is a method of health care delivery that involves responding to illness within the determinants of health. It involves coordinating, integrating and expanding systems/services to provide population health, illness prevention, and health promotion through an interdisciplinary approach.<sup>11</sup>

#### ABORIGINAL HEALTH ACCESS CENTRE (AHAC)

An Aboriginal Health Access Centre is a PHC center that provides access to health care services for the aboriginal population, including: doctors, nurse practitioners, traditional healers and traditional medicine, occupational therapists, physiotherapists, PTAs/OTAs and social workers. Services provided at these centers are targeted to meet the needs of the aboriginal population and provide care in a culturally sensitive environment. Any aboriginal individual in the community is able to access care at these centers.<sup>12</sup>

#### COMMUNITY HEALTH CENTRE (CHC)

A Community Health Centre is a centre that provides PHC through the use of an interdisciplinary team of doctors, nurse practitioners, physiotherapists and other health care providers. CHCs prioritize the health and wellbeing of populations who have traditionally faced barriers to accessing health services and also work in the community to offer health promotion initiatives in schools, housing developments and the workplace.<sup>13</sup>

#### FAMILY HEATLH TEAM (FHT)

A Family Health Team is a PHC facility that provides an interdisciplinary approach to care that allows individuals to have access to family doctors, nurse practitioners, social workers, physiotherapists and other health care providers in their community. The main focus is on chronic disease self-management, disease prevention and health promotion. In order to access these services, individuals must be enrolled with the FHT.<sup>14</sup>

#### NURSE PRACTITIONER-LED CLINIC (NPLC)

Nurse Practitioner-Led Clinics are facilities lead by nurse practitioners to provide ongoing PHC, education and illness prevention in collaboration with an interprofessional team to registered individuals that require care.<sup>15</sup>

## **BRIEF HISTORY OF PHYSIOTHERAPY IN PHC**

As part of the funding reform for physiotherapy in 2013, the Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care (MOHLTC) allocated year over year funding for physiotherapy across the health care system, which included funding to expand the number of physiotherapists practicing in PHC. Subsequently, the MOHLTC established a budget based program for specific health



sectors and services, providing an opportunity to expand the number of physiotherapists who were working as a part of PHC teams such as AHACs, CHCs, FHTs, and NLPCs.<sup>2</sup>

#### TORONTO CENTRAL LHIN EVALUATION OF PHYSIOTHERAPY IN PHC

This evaluation was completed in 2016 and surveyed: 152 individuals participating in physiotherapy care, 33 primary care providers (MDs and NPs) and 49 other primary health care providers (e.g. occupation therapists, social workers, and dieticians) from 11 CHCs in the TCLHIN area.<sup>4</sup> This survey is referenced throughout this document as to date, it is the most comprehensive set of data and program evaluation of physiotherapists in PHC conducted in Ontario following the investment of the Ontario government into physiotherapy roles in 2014.

## WHAT IS A PHYSIOTHERAPIST?

A physiotherapist is a self-regulated, primary care professional who provides evidence based, client centered care over the life span for multiple body systems.<sup>16</sup> They provide a unique contribution to health care through an advanced understanding of the body and its systems, and how to restore function and mobility.<sup>16</sup> Physiotherapists are able to assess the neuromuscular, musculoskeletal and cardiorespiratory systems, and diagnose diseases and/or disorders that are associated with physical dysfunction, injury or pain within their scope of practice. They also provide treatment, rehabilitation and prevention of physical dysfunction, injury and pain to improve or maintain function and promote mobility.<sup>17</sup>

Only individuals registered with the College of Physiotherapists of Ontario (the College) are able to use the title physiotherapist or physical therapist.<sup>18</sup> As a member of the regulated health care professional community in Ontario, physiotherapists are required to uphold the legal, regulatory and professional standards that are set out by the College.<sup>19</sup> The current entry-level education requirement for physiotherapists in Canada is a Master's level university education or Bachelor equivalent. This preparation provides Canadian trained physiotherapists a foundational knowledge of the modern sciences of the profession, including knowledge of biological, applied, clinical and psychosocial sciences (e.g. human/functional anatomy, human physiology, pathology, biomechanics and exercise physiology), scientific inquiry, and ethics. Those who have been educated outside of Canada and wish to practice physiotherapy in Canada must first have their credentials assessed by the <u>Canadian Alliance of Physiotherapy Regulators</u>. Physiotherapists are encouraged to participate in continuing educational courses throughout their career to maintain their knowledge of the most current evidence and best practices, and to expand their skill set.

As per the Physiotherapy Act, with the exception of communicating a diagnosis, a physiotherapist with the skills, knowledge and competency acquired through post-graduate training may practice within a set of restricted authorized activities.<sup>17</sup> Physiotherapists self-declare their competency to perform these restricted activities by <u>rostering</u> with the College.<sup>19</sup>

#### **AUTHORIZED ACTIVITIES:**

• Communicating a diagnosis



- Acupuncture
- Spinal manipulation
- Assessment and treatment of pelvic musculature
- Tracheal suctioning
- Treating a wound below the dermis
- Administering a substance by inhalation

Under a physiotherapist's scope of practice, a physiotherapist is able to order diagnostic tests (e.g. x-rays and blood work), but currently cannot do so under their own independent authority and therefore require medical directives to do so. These authorities can be performed under medical directives.<sup>17</sup>

#### PHYSIOTHERAPIST ASSISTANTS (PTAS)

PTAs are support personnel who assist with the delivery of physiotherapy services under the direction of a physiotherapist.<sup>20</sup> Physiotherapists who work with PTAs are responsible for determining the PTA's competence and must gain consent from each patient before involving a PTA in an individual's care.<sup>20</sup> A physiotherapist is responsible for assigning aspects of the physiotherapist's treatment plan to the PTA and remain accountable for the outcome of that care. A physiotherapist cannot assign the following to a PTA<sup>20</sup>:

- Care they do not have the knowledge, skills or judgment to perform
- Initial assessments or re-assessments
- Treatment that requires the PTA to change a treatment plan on their own
- Any controlled act delegated to the physiotherapist
- Any part of acupuncture, communicating a diagnosis, spinal manipulation or internal assessment or rehabilitation of pelvic musculature

Physiotherapists who work with PTAs are required to roster with the College<sup>20</sup> and adhere to the <u>standards of practice</u> related to working with physiotherapist assistants.

## **BENEFITS OF INTEGRATING PHYSIOTHERAPY INTO PHC**

Physiotherapists contribute to PHC through their expertise in managing musculoskeletal conditions, such as chronic and acute pain, cardiorespiratory and neurological conditions with a focus on functional or mobility limitations.<sup>5</sup> Physiotherapists also provide health promotion, illness prevention, and self-management for both acute and chronic diseases.<sup>16</sup> Integration of physiotherapy into PHC teams is cost effective, improves individuals' outcomes and satisfaction with their care, and enhances the health care team's ability to provide quality care.<sup>4-8</sup> Additionally, integrating physiotherapy into PHC teams has increased the accessibility and affordability of physiotherapy care.<sup>3</sup>

Given that the expansion of the physiotherapist role in PHC is relatively new in Ontario, evidence examining the outcomes of that integration is limited. The Toronto Central Local Health Integrated Network (TCLHIN) is one of the only organizations in the province that has formally evaluated the integration of physiotherapy into PHC teams, specifically CHCs, following the funding changes in 2013.



In Ontario, 22% of visits to a primary care physician are primarily due to symptoms related to a musculoskeletal issue.<sup>21</sup> Many PHC physicians do not have the expertise to effectively manage musculoskeletal conditions, which leads to increased referrals to specialists, increased use of medical imaging and increased prescription of pain medications.<sup>4-6</sup> Excessive pain medication prescription has contributed to Canada having the second highest opioid prescription rate in the world, leading to a crisis across the country.<sup>22</sup> PHC providers who have a physiotherapist as part of their team have reported more appropriate referrals to specialists and a decrease in the need for diagnostic imaging.<sup>4-6</sup> In addition, 76% of PHC providers surveyed as part of the TCLHIN CHC evaluation reported a decrease in the amount of pain medications prescribed.<sup>4</sup> Similar findings have been demonstrated in the United Kingdom, where use of physiotherapy in PHC decreased the number of visits to general practitioners, saved time during the visits and decreased associated health care costs.<sup>7</sup>

In addition to improving cost effectiveness at the system level, individuals in the TCLHIN CHC network who participated in the PHC evaluation reported a significant improvement in function, mobility and quality of life.<sup>4</sup> These improvements were measured with validated outcome measures including the Global Rating of Change Scale and the Patient Specific Functional Scale.<sup>4</sup> Additionally, more than 75% of individuals who participated in the TCLHIN CHC evaluation reported a decrease in experienced pain; enhanced understanding of self-management and pain management; and very high levels of satisfaction with their experience accessing physiotherapy in PHC.<sup>4</sup>

The integration of physiotherapists into PHC also improves the care provided by other health care professionals on the team, and the overall efficiency of care.<sup>4,5,8</sup> Having a physiotherapist on a PHC team enables more collaborative care planning, urgent assessments or consults, and same day treatment when needed.<sup>4,5</sup> Interdisciplinary team members who participated in the TCLHIN CHC report noted very high satisfaction with the care provided by physiotherapists. In addition, more than 90% of those team members reported that the gains experienced by individuals would not have been achieved without the physiotherapist's involvement.<sup>4</sup>

## PHYSIOTHERAPISTS IN PRIMARY HEALTH CARE

In 2011, PHC teams employed a small number of physiotherapists, with only 13 of 73 CHCs in Ontario offering physiotherapy services.<sup>23</sup> As of September 2017, nearly 80 physiotherapists are employed at approximately 60 different PHC facilities across Ontario.<sup>24</sup>

Currently, there is a significant unmet need for community based physiotherapy services across Canada, and a large proportion of this need has been identified in Ontario.<sup>1</sup> The barriers for individuals to receive community based physiotherapy have been identified as a lack of availability and affordability of physiotherapy services.<sup>1</sup> According to data from the TCLHIN CHC evaluation report, 70% of individuals who reported receiving care from a PHC physiotherapist identified that they would not have been able to access physiotherapy services had it not been offered by the PHC organization.<sup>4</sup> This suggests that



physiotherapists in PHC teams are instrumental in addressing the barriers of cost and availability for Ontarians to access community based physiotherapy.

## **ROLES OF PHYSIOTHERAPISTS IN PHC**

Physiotherapists in PHC possess the essential competencies of physiotherapists in Canada: manager, evaluator, collaborator, educator, and advocate.<sup>9</sup> By taking on multiple competencies, physiotherapists are able to provide holistic care to individuals that address the physical, social and psychological domains of health.<sup>9</sup>

#### **MODELS OF CARE**

Physiotherapists in PHC use a population based approach to care, which involves disease prevention and health promotion.<sup>25</sup> Population based approach to care aims to change risk factors in the population as a whole and not just at the individual level.<sup>25</sup>

There are six components to a comprehensive model for integrating physiotherapy into PHC including: clinic based care, outreach, self-management, community based rehabilitation, shared care, and case management.<sup>26</sup> These components were adopted by the TCLHIN CHC network as part of the integration of new physiotherapists into PHC teams to ensure a focus on population based approach to care. Details of this model are as follows: <sup>4,26</sup>

- Clinic care: Provision of individualized assessments and treatments through individual services and/or group programming.
- **Shared care:** Collaboration between physiotherapists and other health care professionals in the PHC team.
- **Case management:** Referrals to other health care providers on the PHC team and externally when the physiotherapist is the first contact for rehabilitation needs.
- Integrated care: Collaborative service delivery with external partners to provide care and support beyond the PHC team.
- **Outreach:** Creating targeted outreach services for marginalized, at risk populations who otherwise would be unable to access services.
- **Program consultation:** Internal and external partnerships for program development support

#### SERVICE DELIVERY

In PHC, physiotherapists deliver clinical care both individually and in a group setting to provide rehabilitation programs and education aimed at improving function, wellbeing and quality of life.<sup>4</sup> Physiotherapy service delivery has multiple elements and can include:

- Assessment, diagnosis and treatment of various acute and chronic conditions, including the provision of individualized exercise programs, manual therapy, self-management and education for:
  - Musculoskeletal conditions (e.g. back pain, shoulder pain, knee pain)
  - Arthritic Conditions (e.g. osteoarthritis, rheumatoid arthritis)
  - Osteoporosis
  - Falls Prevention
  - Metabolic conditions (e.g. obesity, diabetes, pre-diabetes)



- Incontinence and pelvic floor conditions (including pre- and post-natal populations)
- Neurological conditions (e.g. stroke, Parkinson's, Multiple Sclerosis)
- Respiratory conditions (e.g. COPD, asthma)
- Cancer related pain and mobility limitations
- Triaging for musculoskeletal pain, including referral to community based treatment programs and identifying the need for additional diagnostics or specialist referral
- System navigation assistance for those who qualify for other community based physiotherapy services, and who are in need of other services in the community
- Mobility aid assessment and assistance in navigating funding options
- Support and education for caregivers for assistance of those with chronic disease including prevention of injury programs for caregivers

#### **CLIENT POPULATIONS**

In the TCLHIN CHC network, PHC physiotherapists reported their caseloads consist mainly of individuals with low-incomes, who are aged 35-64 years in age, and from a variety of cultural backgrounds.<sup>4</sup> Individuals were also identified as being medically complex, with an average of 2.7 acute and/or chronic conditions.<sup>4</sup> The primary complaint for 79% of individuals receiving physiotherapy involved the musculoskeletal system, with 27% of these involving chronic pain.<sup>4</sup> This finding is also supported by a survey distributed by the Ontario Physiotherapy Association to physiotherapists working in PHC across Canada.<sup>27</sup>

## **EXAMPLES OF A PHYSIOTHERAPIST'S ROLE IN PHC**

Physiotherapy is an effective health care service for the treatment of numerous acute and chronic conditions.<sup>28,30,33,34,37,41,43,45,48,53</sup> Examples of the effectiveness and role of physiotherapy in common conditions treated by physiotherapists in PHC in Ontario are outlined below.

#### **CHRONIC PAIN**

Canada currently has the second highest opioid prescribing rate in the world, which has resulted in an opioid crisis throughout the country.<sup>22</sup> Approximately 27% of individuals evaluated in the TCLHIN CHC network reported chronic pain.<sup>4</sup> Evidence supports the use of exercise and pain science physiology education as being effective in decreasing pain and improving function for individuals suffering from chronic pain.<sup>28,29</sup> The majority of individuals in the TCLHIN area, who have received care from a PHC physiotherapist at a CHC, reported an improved understanding of their condition, self-management and pain management.<sup>4</sup> Such improvements have resulted in 60% of TCLHIN physicians and nurse practitioners who participated in the evaluation decreasing the amount of pain medication prescribed.<sup>4</sup> This finding demonstrates that physiotherapy is an effective non-pharmacological method to reduce pain and can be used as a first line of treatment for chronic pain.<sup>4</sup> These findings are supported by the Canadian Guideline for Opioids for Chronic Non-Cancer Pain.<sup>22</sup>

#### ACUTE/SUBACUTE MUSCULOSKELETAL CONDITIONS

Physiotherapists are well positioned to manage musculoskeletal conditions because of their understanding of how the body works and their knowledge of how to restore function.<sup>16</sup> Evidence demonstrates that early referrals to physiotherapy for acute low back pain



decreases the likelihood of the pain becoming chronic.<sup>30</sup> According to the American College of Physicians, non-pharmacological treatment with physiotherapy techniques should be the first line of treatment for individuals with acute or sub-acute low back pain.<sup>32</sup> Physiotherapy techniques (e.g. manual therapy, exercise, modality use and acupuncture) are also effective for treating acute and sub-acute conditions that affect other areas in the spine and the upper and lower extremities.<sup>30</sup>

#### ARTHRITIS

Arthritis is the number one cause of disability in Canada, with over 4.6 million Canadian adults reporting that they have a form of arthritis.<sup>33</sup> Poor management of arthritic conditions result in a burden on the Canadian economy, with \$33 billion each year being lost to health care costs and lost productivity.<sup>33</sup> Poor management of arthritis leads to further deterioration of the joints, and can contribute to the need for extensive surgical interventions. The best practice for management of arthritis includes education, exercise, prescribing assistive devices and joint protection education.<sup>33</sup> In a study of individuals with arthritis who received care from a physiotherapist embedded in a Canadian PHC team, 83% of individuals reported an increased ability to self-manage their condition.<sup>33</sup>

#### OBESITY

An increasing number of Ontarians have an unhealthy body weight, which can lead to increased risk for other health conditions including joint problems, cardiovascular and metabolic issues.<sup>34</sup> Physiotherapists' specialized knowledge in the pathology and body systems impacted by obesity makes them well suited to prescribe safe activity strategies and teach self-management techniques to help obese individuals manage their weight.<sup>34</sup> In addition, evidence indicates that physical activity promotion by physiotherapists in PHC can significantly improve an individuals' long-term physical activity levels.<sup>35</sup>

#### DIABETES

In 2016, 1.6 million Ontarians suffered from diabetes and approximately 2.3 million were diagnosed with pre-diabetes.<sup>36</sup> Evidence supports the use of exercise and education to control insulin resistance and decrease health related complications.<sup>37</sup> Physiotherapists' extensive understanding of the body systems and pathology positions them to provide individualized exercise programs that take into account coexisting medical conditions.<sup>38</sup> Physiotherapists are also able to manage secondary complications, such as neuropathies in the management of diabetes.<sup>38</sup>

#### FALLS

In Canada, falls account for 41% of all injuries each year and are the leading cause of hospitalization in the elderly population.<sup>39</sup> Falls lead to decreased function and an increased fear of falling, which may impact a person's quality of life.<sup>39</sup> The financial impact of falls is concerning; with falls and the associated care costing approximately \$30,000 per senior who experiences a fall.<sup>40</sup> Evidence demonstrates a positive effect of multimodal exercise delivered by a physiotherapist in decreasing the risk of falling and the fear of falling in the elderly population.<sup>41</sup>



#### CHRONIC OBSTRUCTIVE RESPIRATORY DISEASE (COPD)

Over 850,000 individuals in Ontario suffer from COPD.<sup>42</sup> According to the Canadian Thoracic Society, individuals who suffer from COPD should participate in prescribed exercise therapy to improve exercise tolerance and quality of life, and decrease shortness of breath.<sup>43</sup> Evidence also demonstrates participating in a self-management program will improve an individual's exercise performance, anxiety and understanding of their condition.<sup>44</sup>

#### **ASTHMA**

In 2015, over 2 million individuals suffered from asthma.<sup>45</sup> In Ontario, asthma affects one in four children, and one in three adults will develop asthma in their lifetime.<sup>46</sup> Proper physical activity and breathing exercises are effective in improving overall fitness and quality of life for children and adults who suffer from asthma.<sup>45</sup>

#### **MENTAL HEALTH**

Over 6.7 million Canadians live with mental health concerns such as depression, anxiety and schizophrenia.<sup>47</sup> Exercise prescription by a physiotherapist has been found to improve overall psychological wellbeing, mild to moderate depression and anxiety for individuals aged 19 years and older.<sup>48-50</sup> Evidence also supports the use of structured exercises by a physiotherapist to improve mental health and reduces the need for care for adults who suffer from schizophrenia.<sup>51</sup>

#### INCONTINENCE

Urinary incontinence is a significant concern in the adult population in Ontario.<sup>52</sup> More than 50% of Ontario women 45 years or older experience a form of incontinence; with one in five women reporting incontinence that affects their normal activity.<sup>52</sup> High level evidence from systematic reviews demonstrates that physiotherapy interventions, such as pelvic floor muscle training, are effective in managing incontinence in these populations.<sup>53</sup>

## **ONTARIO PHYSIOTHERAPY ASSOCIATION SUPPORT**

The OPA offers support to physiotherapists currently working in PHC, who are interested in working in the sector and to organizations who are looking to integrate a physiotherapist into their PHC team. More information about these resources can be found on the OPA website: <a href="https://opa.on.ca/advocacy-positions/health-system/">https://opa.on.ca/advocacy-positions/health-system/</a>.



## REFERENCES

- Wojkowski S, Smith J, Richardson J, Birch S, Boyle M. A Scoping Review of Need and Unmet Need for Community-based Physiotherapy in Canada. Journal of Critical Reviews 2016; 3(4): 17-23
- Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. Changes to publicly-funded physiotherapy services. INFOBulletin 2013;1-3. Available at: <u>http://health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/ohip/bulletins/4000/bul4595.pdf</u> Accessed 08/24, 2017
- 3. Maharaj S, Chung C, Dhugge I, Gayevski M, Muradyan A, McLeod KE, Smart A, et al. (unpublished). Integrating Physiotherapists into Primary Health Care Organizations: The Physiotherapist Perspective.
- 4. HealthStats. Evaluation of Physiotherapy Primary Healthcare Model in TCLHIN Community Health Centres. June 20, 2016.
- Dufour SP, Brown J, Lucy SD. Integrating physiotherapists within primary health care teams: perspectives of family physicians and nurse practitioners. Journal of Interprofessional Care. 2014; 28(5): 460-5
- 6. Pinnington MA, Miller J, Stanley I. An evaluation of prompt access to physiotherapy in the management of low back pain in primary care. Family Practice. 2004; 21(4): 372-80
- 7. Holdsworth LK, Webster V. Direct access to physiotherapy in primary care: Now?- And into the future? Physiotherapy. 2004; 90(2): 64-72
- 8. Holdworth LK, Webster VS, McFadyen AK. Physiotherapists' and general practitioners' views of self-referral and physiotherapy scope of practice: results from a national trial. Physiotherapy. 2008; 94: 236-243
- 9. Dufour SP, Lucy SD, Belle Brown J. Understanding Physiotherapists' Roles in Ontario Primary Health Care Teams. Physiotherapy Canada 2014; 66(3): 234-42
- 10. Aggarwal M. Toward a primary care strategy for Canada. Ottawa, Ont.: Canadian Foundation for Healthcare Improvement; 2012
- 11. Government of Canada [Internet]. Ottawa: c2017. About primary health care; 2012 August 23. [cited 2017 September 1]. Available from: <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/primary-health-care/about-primary-health-care.html</u>
- 12. Association on Ontario Health Centres [Internet]. Toronto: c2017. Aboriginal Health Access Centres; [cited 2017 September 1]. Available from: <u>https://www.aohc.org/aboriginal-health-access-centres</u>
- 13. Association on Ontario Health Centres [Internet]. Toronto: c2017. Community Health Centres; [cited 2017 September 1]. Available from: <u>https://www.aohc.org/community-healthcentres</u>
- 14. Association on Ontario Health Centres [Internet]. Toronto: c2017. Community Family Health Teams; [cited 2017 September 1]. Available from: <u>https://www.aohc.org/community-family-health-teams</u>
- 15. Association on Ontario Health Centres [Internet]. Toronto: c2017. Nurse Practitioner Lead Clinics; [cited 2017 September 1]. Available from: <u>https://www.ontario.ca/page/nurse-practitioner-led-clinics</u>
- 16. Canadian Physiotherapy Association. Position Statement: Primary Health Care. 2006.
- 17. Physiotherapy Act, S.O. 1991, c.37 [Internet]. 2011 September 1 [cited 2017 August 24]. Available from: <u>https://www.ontario.ca/laws/statute/91p37</u>
- College of Physiotherapists of Ontario [Internet]. Toronto: c2017. Protecting the Public. [cited 2017 September 1]. Available from: <u>http://www.collegept.org/Public/ProtectingthePublic</u>



- 19. College of Physiotherapists of Ontario [Internet]. Toronto: c2017. Controlled Acts and Other Restricted Activities Standard; 2016 June 29. [cited 2017 September 1]. Available from: <u>http://www.collegept.org/Standards/Controlled\_Acts</u>
- 20. College of Physiotherapists of Ontario [Internet]. Toronto: c2017. Working with Physiotherapists Standard;2016 June 29 [cited 2017 September 1]. Available from: <u>http://www.collegept.org/Standards/PTAs</u>
- 21. MacKay C, Canizares M, Davis AM, Badley EM. Health Care Utilization for Musculoskeletal Disorders. American College of Rheumatology. 2010; 62(2): 161-9
- 22. National Pain Centre. McMaster University. The2017 Canadian Guideline for Opioids for Chronic Non-Cancer Pain. 2017. Available from: <u>http://nationalpaincentre.mcmaster.ca/documents/Opioid%20GL%20for%20CMAJ\_01may2\_017.pdf</u>
- 23. Ontario Physiotherapy Association. Community Health Centre Survey 2011. 2011:1-8
- 24. Ontario Physiotherapy Association. PT in PHC Contact List 2017. 2017: 1-5
- 25. Shah CP. Concepts, Determinants and Promotion of Health. Toronto: University of Toronto Press; c2001. p. 3-37
- McColl MA, Shortt S, Godwin M, Smith K, Rowe K, O'Brien P, Donnelly C. Models for Integrating Rehabilitation and Primary Care: A Scoping Study. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2009; 90: 1523-31
- 27. Ontario Physiotherapy Association: Models of Care Survey 2017. 2017
- Hoffmann TC, Maher CG, Briffa T, Sherrington C, Bennell K, Alison J, Fiatarone Singh M, Glasziou PP. Prescribing exercise intervention for patients with chronic conditions. CMAJ 2016; 188(7): 510-18
- 29. Moseley GL. A pain neuromatrix approach to patients with chronic pain. Manual Therapy 2003; 8(3): 130-40
- 30. Wu PIK, Meleger A, Witkower A, Mondale T, Borg-Stein J. Nonpharmacologica Options for Treating Acute and Chronic Pain. PM R 7. 2015: S278-94
- 31. Qaseem A, Wilt TJ, McLean RM, Forci MA. Noninvasive Treatments for Acute, Subacute, and Chronic Low Back Pain: A Clinical Practice Guideline From the American College of Physicians. Ann Intern Med. 2017; 166: 514-30
- 32. The Arthritis Society. [Internet]. c2017. Arthritis in Canada: Facts and Figures; 2015 [cited 2017 August 24]. Available from: <u>http://arthritis.ca/understand-arthritis/arthritis-facts-figures</u>
- 33. Cott, C. et al, for ACREU, A Client-Centered Health Service Model of Primary Health Care and Rehabilitation for Arthritis, April 2005
- 34. Canadian Physiotherapy Association, Physician Briefings for Physicians Obesity, May 2008
- Orrow G, Kinmonth AL, Sanderson S, Sutton S. Effectiveness of physical activity promotion based in primary care: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. BMJ. 2012; 344 (1389): 1-17
- 36. Canadian Diabetes Association. 2016 Report on Diabetes in Ontario. 2016 Toronto, Ontario.
- 37. Colberg SR, Sigal RJ, Fernhall B, Regensteiner JG, Blissmer BJ, Rubin RR, Chasen-Taber L, et al. Exercise and Type 2 Diabetes: The American College of Sports Medicine and the American Diabetes Association: joint position statement executive summary. 2010; 33(12): 2692-6.
- 38. Australian Physiotherapy Association, Position Statement Physiotherapy and Diabetes, March 2006,

http://apa.advsol.com.au/independent/documents/position\_statements/public/Physiotherapy andDiabetes.pdf



- 39. Handrigan GA, Maltais N, Gagne M, Lamontagne P, Hamel D, Teasdale N, et al. Sex-specific association between obesity and self-reported falls and injuries among community-dwelling Canadians aged 65 years and older. Osteoporosis Int 2017; 28: 483-94
- 40. Tricco AC, Cogo E, Holroyd-Leduc JH, Sibley KM, Feldman F, Kerr G, et al. Efficacy of falls prevention interventions: protocol for a systematic review and network meta-analysis. Systematic Reviews 2013; 2: 38-44
- 41. Gillespie LD, Robertson MC, Gillespie WJ, Sherrington C, Gates S, Clemson LM, et al. Interventions for preventing falls in older people living in the community (Review). Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2012; 9: 1-297
- 42. Gershon AS, Guan J, Victor JC, Goldstein R, To T. Quantifying Health Services Use for Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2013;187 (6): 596-601
- 43. Redi WD, Kelm C, Hopkins-Rosseel D, Brooks D. The Canadian Thoracic Society.
- 44. Recommendations for Management of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease: Implications for Physiotherapists. Physiotherapy Canada. 2007; 59(3): 218-28
- 45. Mitchell KE, Johnson Warrington V, Apps LD, Nakart J, Sewell L, Williams JE, Rees K, et al. A self-management programme for COPD: a randomize controlled trial. Eur Respir J. 2014; 44: 1538-47
- 46. OASIS [Internet]. c2014: The Hospital for Sick Children(SickKids). Asthma in Canada Infographic; 2016 [cited 2017 September 1]. Available from: <u>http://lab.research.sickkids.ca/oasis/oasis-statistics/</u>
- 47. Bruurs MLJ, van der Giessen LJ, Moed H. The effectiveness of physiotherapy in patients with asthma: A systematic review of the literature. Respiratory Medicine. 2013; 107: 483-94
- Risk Analytica. The Life Economic Impact of Major Mental Illnesses in Canada. December 2011.
- Patel A, Keogh JWL, Kolt GS, Schofield GM. The long-term effects of a primary care physical activity intervention on mental health in low-active, community-dwelling older adults. Aging & Mental Health. 2013; 17(6): 766-72
- 50. Carek PJ, Laibstain SE, Carek SM. Exercise for the Treatment of Depression and Anxiety. Int'l J. Psychiatry in Medicine. 2011; 41(1): 15-28
- 51. Gerber M, Brand S, Herrmann C, Colledge F, Holsboer-Trachsler E, Puhse U. Increase objectively assessed vigorous-intensity exercise is associated with reduced stress, increased mental health and good objective and subjective sleep in young adults. Physiology & Behaviour. 2014; 135: 17-24
- 52. Scheewe TW, Backx FJG, Takken T, Jorg F, van Strater ACP, Kroes AG, Kahn RS, Cahn W. Exercise therapy improves mental and physical health in schizophrenia: a randomized controlled trial. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 2013; 127: 464-73
- 53. Swanson JG, Kaczorowski J, Skelly J, Finkelstein M. Urinary incontinence: Common problem among women over 45. Can Fam Physician. 2005; 51: 84-5
- 54. Dumoulin C, Hay-Smith EJC, Mac Habee-Seguin G. Pelvic floor muscle training versus no treatment, or inactive control treatments, for urinary incontinence in women (Review). Cochrane Databases of Systematic Reviews 2014; 5: 1-119